

DIGITAL HEALTH AND CARE WALES ALL WALES CAPABILITY POLICY

Document Version	1
-------------------------	---

Status

Author:	Velindre NHS Trust
Approved by	Velindre NHS Trust
Issue Date:	25 July 2018
Review date:	31 March 2022



STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE (Please place a 'x' next to relevant objective/s)						
Mobilising digital transformation and ensuring high quality health and care data						
Expanding the content, availability and functionality of the Digital Health and Care Record						
Delivering High Quality Digital Services	Χ					
Driving value from data for better outcomes						

QUALITY STANDARDS (Select relevant standard/s)									
ISO 20000	Χ	ISO 27001	Χ	ISO 9001	Χ	ISO 14001			
BS 76000:2015	Χ	BS 76005	Χ	BS 10008		ISO 13485			
SDI (Service Desk In:	stitut	e) Standard					Χ		

HEALTH CARE STANDARD (Select relevant standard/s)										
Staying Healthy	X	Safe C	Safe Care Effective Care Dignified Ca					Dignified Care		
Timely Care			Individu	ual Care X		X	Staff & Resources		ources	Χ

EQIA STATEMENT (Select as appropriate)						
September 2020	Outcome - approved					

Statement: Digital Health and Care Wales is committed to ensuring that, as far as is reasonably practicable, the way it provides services to the public and the way it treats its employees reflects their individual needs and does not discriminate against individuals or groups. An Equality Impact Assessment (EQIA) has been undertaken on this policy and the way it operates. The organisation wanted to know of any possible or actual impact that this policy may have on any groups in respect of gender (including maternity and pregnancy as well as marriage or civil partnership issues) race, disability, sexual orientation, welsh language, religion or belief, gender identity, age or other protected characteristics.

The assessment found that there was no impact to the equality groups mentioned and this policy will have a positive impact on all of the 'protected characteristic' groups. Where appropriate, the organisation will make plans for the necessary actions required to minimise any stated impact to ensure that it meets its responsibilities under the equalities and human rights legislation.

APPROVAL/SCRUTINY ROUTE: Person/Committee/Group who have received or considered this										
Local Partnership Forum	23/03/2021	Approved								



WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS ACT (Select relevant theme/s)									
A Prosperous Wales	Χ	A Resilien	t W	ales	Χ	A More Equal Wales	Χ	A Healthier Wales	Χ
A Wales of Cohesive Communities X A Globally Responsible Wales						Χ			
A Wales of Vibrant Culture and Thriving Welsh Language						Χ			

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	DOCUMENT HISTORY Error! Bookmark not defined
I	REVISION HISTORY Error! Bookmark not defined
ı	REVIEWERS Error! Bookmark not defined
1	AUTHORISATION Error! Bookmark not defined
١	OOCUMENT LOCATION Error! Bookmark not defined
2	POLICY STATEMENT
3	ABOUT THIS POLICY
4	PRINCIPLES
5	RIGHTS OF ACCOMPANIMENT
6	IDENTIFICATION OF A CAPABILITY ISSUE
7	INITIAL ASSESSMENT
8	INCAPABILITY DUE TO DISABILITY
9	CONFIDENTIALITY
10	REDEPLOYMENT/DOWNGRADING
11	TIMESCALES FOR ACHIEVING IMPROVEMENT
12	NOTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS FOR FORMAL CAPABILITY HEARINGS
13	PROCEDURE AT CAPABILITY HEARINGS
14	PROCEDURE AT CAPABILITY HEARINGS
15	STAGE 1 HEARING
16	STAGE 2 HEARING
17	STAGE 3 HEARING
18	APPEALS AGAINST ACTION FOR POOR PERFORMANCE
19	TRAINING AND/OR AWARENESS RAISING



20	EQUALITY	18
21	GENERAL DATA PROTECTION REGULATIONS 2018	18
22	FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT 2000	19
23	RECORDS MANAGEMENT	19
24	REVIEW	19
25	MONITORING	19
26	APPROVAL	19



DOCUMENT HISTORY

1.1 REVISION HISTORY

Date	Version	Author	Revision Summary			
25/07/2018	1	All NHS Wales	Policy finalised			

1.2 REVIEWERS

This document requires the following reviews:

Date	Version	Name	Position
31/03/2022	1	All NHS Wales	Approving Body

1.3 AUTHORISATION

Signing of this document indicates acceptance of its contents.

Author's Name:	All NHS Wales
Role:	All NHS Wales
Signature:	Date: 25/07/2018
Approver's Name:	All NHS Wales
Role:	All NHS Wales
Signature:	Date:

1.4 DOCUMENT LOCATION

Туре	Location
Electronic	Integrated Management System



POLICY STATEMENT

The Core Principles of NHS Wales are:

- We put patients and users of our services first: We work with the public and patients/service users through co-production, doing only what is needed, no more, no less and trying to avoid harm. We are honest, open, empathetic and compassionate. We ensure quality and safety above all else by providing the best care at all times.
- We seek to improve our care: We care for those with the greatest health need first, making the most effective use of all skills and resources and constantly seeking to fit the care and services we provide to users' needs. We integrate improvement into everyday working, by being open to change in all that we do, which also reduces harm and waste.
- We focus on wellbeing and prevention: We strive to improve health and remove inequities by working together with the people of Wales so as to ensure their wellbeing now and in future years and generations.
- We reflect on our experiences and learn: We invest in our learning and development. We make
 decisions that benefit patients and users of our services by appropriate use of the tools, systems
 and environments which enable us to work competently, safely and effectively. We actively
 innovate, adapt and reduce inappropriate variation whilst being mindful of the appropriate
 evidence base to guide us.
- We work in partnership and as a team: We work with individuals including patients, colleagues, and other organisations; taking pride in all that we do, valuing and respecting each other, being honest and open and listening to the contribution of others. We aim to resolve disagreements effectively and promptly and we have a zero tolerance of bullying or victimization of any patient, service user or member of staff.
- We value all who work for the NHS: We support all our colleagues in doing the jobs they have agreed to do. We will regularly ask about what they need to do their work better and seek to provide the facilities they need to excel in the care they give. We will listen to our colleagues and act on their feedback and concerns.

They have been developed to help and support staff working in NHS Wales.

NHS Wales is about people, working with people, to care for people. These Core Principles describe how we can work together to make sure that what we do and how we do it is underpinned by a strong common sense of purpose which we all share and understand.

The NHS is continually under pressure to deliver more services, with better outcomes and maintain and increase quality against the backdrop of significant financial challenge, high levels of public expectation and with a population which is getting older and with increased levels of chronic conditions.

These principles have been developed to help address some of the pressures felt by staff in responding to these demands. They will re-balance the way we work together so we are less reliant on process and are supported to do the right thing by being guided by these principles when applying policies and procedures to the workforce.



As people working within the health service, we will all use them to support us to carry out our work with continued dedicated commitment to those using our services, during times of constant change.

The Principles are part of an ongoing commitment to strengthen the national and local values and behaviour frameworks already established across Health Boards and Trusts.

They have been developed in partnership with representatives from employers and staff side.

The Principles will be used to create a simpler and consistent approach when it comes to managing workplace employment issues.

ABOUT THIS POLICY

- 3.1 The primary aim of this policy is to provide a framework within which managers can work with employees to maintain satisfactory performance standards and to encourage improvement where necessary.
- 1.5 3.2 It is the Digital Health and Care Wales's ("the Authority") policy to ensure that concerns over performance are dealt with fairly and that steps are taken to establish the facts and to give employees the opportunity to respond at an initial informal discussion before any formal action is taken.
- 3.3 This policy is applicable to all employees, employed in the Authority, except Medical and Dental staff where specific arrangements apply in cases of professional conduct or competence. It does not apply to bank workers (see bank register principles June 2017), agency workers or self-employed contractors.
 - Before considering any action in accordance with this policy, the relevant code of conduct and professional code of practice should be considered, and advice should be sought from the relevant professional lead.
- 3.4 Where an employee is either jointly employed or is not employed by the Authority but provides a service for the Authority, the capability issue will be addressed under the scope of the policy of the lead employer. The Authority will still have an active involvement in the management of the issue to ensure that the performance standards required by the Authority are met.

PRINCIPLES

- 4.1. All employees should be treated fairly and with dignity and respect.
- 4.2 An appropriate Workforce and Organisational Development representative will be available to



support managers and employees in the application of this policy.

4.3 Line Managers are responsible for ensuring that all new employees undertake both the organisational and local induction on commencement of their new post. In addition, they will receive a job description and person specification and will be given a clear understanding of their duties and the standards expected. To support new or promoted employees, the line manager will also need to assess any immediate development needs which they may have and the timescales within which these need to be addressed. All employees will participate in a performance review at which a Personal Development Plan will be agreed on at least an annual basis, in line with the pay progression policy.

If an individual is in the formal stage of the capability policy at the beginning of sickness and/or maternity/adoption leave and there is evidence to show that they would be unlikely to have met their pay progression criteria, it may be possible to withhold their pay increment. However, advice must be sought from a relevant member of the Workforce and Organisational Development team and such a decision must take account of any potential discrimination claims.

During the normal course of their duties, line managers should meet regularly with their employees and bring to their attention any issues relating to their performance. During an induction period, the expectation would be that the level of support required would be greater than once the employee has settled in.

RIGHTS OF ACCOMPANIMENT

All employees have the right to be accompanied by a Trade Union representative or an organisation employed workplace colleague, at all formal hearing stages of the procedure. However, as long as a suitable alternative representative is available, unavailability of a preferred representative or workplace colleague should not delay the hearing taking place.

Where reference is made in this policy to the employee's "representative", this will refer to the Trade Union representative or workplace colleague.

IDENTIFICATION OF A CAPABILITY ISSUE

In the first instance, performance issues should normally be dealt with informally between the employee and their line manager as part of day-to-day management. Where appropriate, a note of any such informal discussions should be shared with the employee and placed on the employee's personal file.



1.6 Informal discussions may help:

- a) clarify the required standards;
- b) identify areas of concern;
- c) establish the likely causes of poor performance and identify any training needs; and/or
- d) set targets for improvement and a time-scale for review.

This procedure should be used for more serious cases, or in any case where an earlier informal discussion has not resulted in a satisfactory improvement.

INITIAL ASSESSMENT

- 7.1 If initial discussions have not resulted in a satisfactory improvement and if the organisation has ongoing concerns or more serious concerns come to light about an employee's performance, an initial assessment will be undertaken, which may be by the line manager, to decide if there are grounds for taking formal action under this policy. The procedure involved will depend on the circumstances but may involve reviewing the employee's personal file including any appraisal records, gathering any relevant documents, monitoring the employee's work and, if appropriate, interviewing the employee and/or other individuals confidentially regarding the employee's work.
- 7.2 Managers need to consider in the light of relevant organisation policies and procedures any underlying issue such as:
- Health and/or domestic issues;
- Bullying/harassment or feeling intimidated for any other reasons;
- Inadequate resources to do the job;
- Insufficient training or the need for further training;
- Changes in the job environment.

INCAPABILITY DUE TO DISABILITY

- 1.8 8.1 Consideration will be given to whether poor performance may be related to a disability and, if so, whether there are reasonable adjustments that could be made to the employee's working arrangements, including changing duties or providing additional equipment or training. The organisation has a duty under the Equality Act 2010 to make reasonable adjustments as appropriate.
- 1.9 8.2 If an employee wishes to discuss this or inform the organisation of any medical condition the employee considers relevant, the employee should contact his/her line



manager who may refer the employee to Occupational Health for assessment and support.

CONFIDENTIALITY

- 1.10 9.1 The aim of the organisation is to deal with performance matters sensitively and with due respect for the privacy of any individuals involved. All employees must treat as confidential any information communicated to them in connection with a matter which is subject to this capability procedure.
- 1.11 9.2 The employee and anyone accompanying the employee (including witnesses), must not make electronic recordings of any meetings or hearings conducted under this procedure.
- 9.3 The employee will normally be told the names of any witnesses whose evidence is relevant to the employee's capability hearing, unless there are exceptional circumstances in which the organisation believes that a witness's identity should remain confidential.

REDEPLOYMENT/DOWNGRADING

If it is mutually agreed at any stage in the process that redeployment/downgrading is in the best interests of both the employee and the organisation, every effort will be made to find a suitable appointment. In particular, the following must be considered:

Temporary redeployment:

- The availability of opportunities;
- It will be for the manager and employee to agree a suitable trial period for these arrangements;
- Review arrangements whilst in the new post;
- Protection of all earnings would apply.

Permanent redeployment:

- The availability of opportunities;
- Protection of earnings will not be applied.

TIMESCALES FOR ACHIEVING IMPROVEMENT

The timescales for achieving improvement will be dependent on various factors such as the risks of the role not being carried out competently within the organisation, the impact on the service, the complexities of the job itself, and the availability of the necessary training and support. However, managers are responsible for setting SMART (Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Relevant, Timely) targets for improvement. As a guideline the timescales to achieve the improvement should normally be a minimum of one month and no more than three months. During the period, there is an expectation that the manager and employee will have regular meetings to review performance. Periods of review



may be paused if an employee is absent from work for an extended length of time in excess of 28 days, to cover the length of the absence where improvement cannot be monitored.

NOTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS FOR FORMAL CAPABILITY HEARINGS

If the organisation considers that there are grounds for taking formal action over alleged poor performance, the employee will be required to attend a capability hearing. The employee will be notified in writing of the concerns over their performance, the reasons for those concerns, and the likely outcome if it is decided after the hearing that the employee's performance has been unsatisfactory. The organisation will also include the following where appropriate:

- a) A summary of relevant information gathered as part of any investigation.
- b) A copy of any relevant documents which will be used at the capability hearing.
- c) A copy of any relevant witness statements, except where a witness's identity is to be kept confidential (which will only be in exceptional circumstances), in which case the employee will be given as much information as possible while maintaining confidentiality.

All documentation will be passed to the employee as soon as possible but no later than 21 calendar days prior to a capability hearing. Any additional information which the employee wishes to rely upon should be submitted as soon as possible but no later than 10 calendar days prior to the hearing. In exceptional circumstances, the employee may request to make a submission which has not been made available within the above timescale.

The list of agreed witnesses will be provided no later than 14 calendar days before the hearing date.

PROCEDURE AT CAPABILITY HEARINGS

- 1.12 If the employee or their representative cannot attend the hearing they should inform the organisation immediately and the organisation will usually arrange an alternative time. The employee must make every effort to attend the hearing, and failure to attend without good reason may be treated as misconduct. If the employee fails to attend without good reason or is persistently unable to do so (for example, for health reasons), the organisation may have to take a decision based on the available evidence including any written representations made by the employee.
- 1.13 The hearing will normally be held by the employee's line manager (save for at Stage 3 when it is likely that a more senior manager will hear the case) and it is likely that the manager will be supported by an appropriate professional advisor, and a member of the Workforce and Organisational Development Department. The employee may bring an employee representative to the hearing (see paragraph 4). The employee representative may make representations, ask questions, and sum up the employee's case, but will not be allowed to answer questions on behalf of the employee. The employee may confer privately with their



employee representative at any time during the hearing.

1.14 The employee may ask relevant witnesses to appear at the hearing, provided sufficient notice is provided to arrange their attendance. The employee will be given the opportunity to respond to any information given by a witness and be permitted to cross examine witnesses in an appropriate manner.

1.15 The aims of a capability hearing will usually include:

- a) Setting out the required standards that the organisation believes the employee may have failed to meet and going through any relevant evidence that gathered.
- b) Allowing the employee to ask questions, present evidence, call witnesses, respond to evidence and make representations.
- c) Establishing the likely causes of poor performance including any reasons why any measures taken so far have not led to the required improvement.
- d) Identifying whether there are further measures, such as additional training or supervision, which may improve performance.
- e) Where appropriate, discussing targets for improvement and a time-scale for review.
- f) If dismissal is a possibility, establishing whether there is any likelihood of a significant improvement being made within a reasonable time and whether there is any practical alternative to dismissal, such as redeployment (see section 9).
- 1.16 A hearing will be adjourned if the organisation needs to gather any further information or give consideration to matters discussed at the hearing. The employee will be given a reasonable opportunity to consider any new information obtained before the hearing is reconvened.
- 1.17 The organisation will inform the employee in writing of its decision and the reasons for it, usually within seven calendar days of the hearing.

PROCEDURE AT CAPABILITY HEARINGS

- 1.18 If the employee or their representative cannot attend the hearing they should inform the Authority immediately and the Authority will usually arrange an alternative time. The employee must make every effort to attend the hearing, and failure to attend without good reason may be treated as misconduct. If the employee fails to attend without good reason or is persistently unable to do so (for example, for health reasons), the Authority may have to take a decision based on the available evidence including any written representations made by the employee.
- 1.19 The hearing will normally be held by the employee's line manager (save for at Stage 3 when it is likely that a more senior manager will hear the case) and it is likely that the manager will



be supported by an appropriate professional advisor, and a member of the Workforce and Organisational Development Department. The employee may bring an employee representative to the hearing (see paragraph 4). The employee representative may make representations, ask questions, and sum up the employee's case, but will not be allowed to answer questions on behalf of the employee. The employee may confer privately with their employee representative at any time during the hearing.

1.20 The employee may ask relevant witnesses to appear at the hearing, provided sufficient notice is provided to arrange their attendance. The employee will be given the opportunity to respond to any information given by a witness and be permitted to cross examine witnesses in an appropriate manner.

1.21 The aims of a capability hearing will usually include:

- g) Setting out the required standards that the Authority believes the employee may have failed to meet and going through any relevant evidence that gathered.
- h) Allowing the employee to ask questions, present evidence, call witnesses, respond to evidence and make representations.
- i) Establishing the likely causes of poor performance including any reasons why any measures taken so far have not led to the required improvement.
- j) Identifying whether there are further measures, such as additional training or supervision, which may improve performance.
- k) Where appropriate, discussing targets for improvement and a time-scale for review.
- I) If dismissal is a possibility, establishing whether there is any likelihood of a significant improvement being made within a reasonable time and whether there is any practical alternative to dismissal, such as redeployment (see section 9).
- 1.22 A hearing will be adjourned if the Authority needs to gather any further information or give consideration to matters discussed at the hearing. The employee will be given a reasonable opportunity to consider any new information obtained before the hearing is reconvened.

The Authority will inform the employee in writing of its decision and the reasons for it, usually within seven calendar days of the hearing.

STAGE 1 HEARING

Where performance issues have not been resolved at an informal level, or where there is a failure to reach and sustain the required standard, a stage 1 hearing will be held.

1.23 Following a Stage 1 capability hearing, if it is decided that the employee's performance is



unsatisfactory, the organisation will give the employee an improvement notice, setting out:

- a) The areas in which the employee has not met the required performance standards.
- b) Targets for improvement.
- c) Any measures, such as additional training or supervision, which will be taken with a view to improving performance.
- d) A period for review (see section 10).
- e) The consequences of failing to improve within the review period, or of further unsatisfactory performance.
- 1.24 The improvement note will normally remain active for six months from the end of the review period. After the active period the warning will remain permanently on the employee's personal file but will be disregarded in deciding the outcome of any future capability proceedings.
- 1.25 The employee's performance will be monitored during the review period and the organisation will write to inform the employee of the outcome:
- 1.26 f) if the line manager is satisfied with the employee's performance, no further action will be taken at this stage but the improvement notice will remain active from the end of the review period;
- 1.27 g) if the line manager is not satisfied, the matter may be progressed to a Stage 2 capability hearing;
- 1.28 h) if the manager feels that there has been a substantial but insufficient improvement, the review period may be extended.

STAGE 2 HEARING

- 1.29 If the employee's performance does not improve within the review period set out in an improvement note, or if there is further evidence of poor performance while the improvement note is still active, the organisation may decide to hold a Stage 2 capability hearing. Written notification will be provided as set out in paragraph 11.
- 1.30 Following a Stage 2 capability hearing, if it is decided that the employee's performance is



unsatisfactory, the organisation will ordinarily give a final written warning, setting out:

- a) the areas in which the required performance standards have not been met;
- b) targets for improvement;
- c) any measures, such as additional training or supervision, which will be taken with a view to improving performance;
- d) a period for review; and
- e) the consequences of failing to improve within the review period, or of further unsatisfactory performance.
- 1.31 A final written warning will normally remain active for 9 months from the end of the review period. After the active period, the warning will remain permanently on the employee's personal file but will be disregarded in deciding the outcome of future capability proceedings.
- 1.32 The employee's performance will be monitored during the review period and the organisation will write to inform the employee of the outcome:
 - f) if the line manager is satisfied with the employee's performance, no further action will be taken;
 - g) if the line manager is not satisfied, the matter may be progressed to a Stage 3 capability hearing; or
 - h) if the manager feels that there has been a substantial but insufficient improvement, the review period may be extended.

STAGE 3 HEARING

Following the Stage 2 Hearing and subsequent review period, and where an improvement to the degree required has not been achieved, termination of employment will be considered. This will take account of all previous action that has been taken in an attempt to improve the employee's performance.

1.33 The decision maker at this stage should not have been involved previously and should have



the authority to dismiss.

1.34 The organisation may decide to hold a Stage 3 capability hearing if there is reason to believe:

- a) the employee's performance has not improved sufficiently within the review period set out in a final written warning;
- b) the employee's performance is unsatisfactory while a final written warning is still active.

Written notification of the hearing will be sent as set out in paragraph 11.

- 1.35 Following the hearing, if it is found that the employee's performance is unsatisfactory, a range of options will be considered including:
 - a) extending an active final written warning and setting a further review period (in exceptional cases where it is believed that a substantial improvement is likely within the review period);
 - b) giving a further final written warning;
- 1.36 A final written warning will normally remain active for 9 months from the end of the review period. After the active period, the warning will remain permanently on the employee's personal file but will be disregarded in deciding the outcome of future capability proceedings.
 - c) redeployment (subject to a trial period of a duration to be agreed but a minimum of 12 weeks) at the end of which the situation will be reviewed and if the redeployment has been successful for all parties, a permanent variation of contract will be put in place. If the redeployment has been unsuccessful in the view of any party, then a stage 3 hearing will be reconvened, and the likely outcome will be dismissal.
 - d)) dismissing the employee;
- 1.37 Dismissal will be with full notice or payment in lieu of notice.

APPEALS AGAINST ACTION FOR POOR PERFORMANCE

Should the employee feel that a decision about poor performance under this procedure is wrong or unjust the employee should appeal in writing, stating the full



grounds of appeal, to [APPROPRIATE POSITION] within 14 calendar days of receiving the written notification.

- 1.38 If appealing against dismissal, the date on which dismissal takes effect will not be delayed pending the outcome of the appeal. However, if the appeal is successful the employee will be reinstated with no loss of continuity or pay.
- 1.39 If an employee raises any new matters in the appeal, the organisation may need to carry out further investigation. If any new information comes to light it will be provided to the employee with a summary including, where appropriate, copies of additional relevant documents and witness statements. The employee will have a reasonable opportunity to consider this information before the hearing.

The administrative arrangements will be put in place within 14 calendar days and wherever possible the appeal heard within 28 calendar days of the notification of appeal being received. At least 7 calendar days before the Appeal Hearing the Appeal Officer must receive the nature of the appeal and all documentary evidence in support of it. Failure to comply may result in either the appeal being postponed or the appeal going ahead without this information.

There will be two levels of constitution of appeal hearings: -

For appeals against warnings short of dismissal, the appeal will normally be heard by a manager one level above the manager who imposed the penalty.

A Workforce and Organisational Development representative will be in attendance in order to give advice and to support the Appeal Officer in ensuring that all aspects of the appeal are fully explored.

In cases of appeals against dismissal, the appeal will normally be heard by a senior officer nominated (by the Director of Workforce and Organisational Development), in line with the organisation's scheme of delegated authority.

The officers nominated to hear an appeal must not have been involved in the process at any earlier point.

The purpose of the appeal is to establish if the decision taken at the hearing was reasonable in light of the grounds raised by the employee. The appeal is not a re-hearing of the original evidence.

The appeal hearing must restrict itself to looking at the grounds of appeal made by the employee and ensuring that these grounds are adequately examined in order to reach a proper judgement on whether the appeal should be upheld.

The appeal hearing will consider specifically whether the action decided upon was fair and reasonable at the time that the action was taken. The appeal hearing may look at whether the procedure was applied correctly when deciding on the action.

The appeal will take account of any substantial new information cited in the grounds for appeal.



The decision reached by any level of appeal hearing is considered final. No further appeal mechanism will operate within the organisation.

- 1.40 Where possible, the appeal hearing will be conducted by a more senior manager who has not been previously involved in the case. A member of the Workforce and Organisational Development Department AND/OR the manager who conducted the capability hearing will also usually be present. The employee may bring an employee representative to the appeal hearing.
- 1.41 An appeal hearing will be adjourned if there is a need to gather any further information or give consideration to matters discussed at the hearing. The employee will be given a reasonable opportunity to consider any new information obtained before the hearing is reconvened.
- 1.42 Following the appeal hearing the organisation will:
 - a) confirm the original decision; or
 - b) revoke the original decision; or
 - c) substitute with a different sanction.

The organisation will inform the employee in writing of its final decision as soon as possible, usually within one week of the appeal hearing. There will be no further right of appeal.

TRAINING AND/OR AWARENESS RAISING

All staff will be made aware of this policy upon commencement with Digital Health and Care Wales. Copies can also be viewed on the organisation's intranet or obtained via the Workforce and Organisational Development department. Training will be provided as appropriate.

EQUALITY

The Trust recognises the diversity of its workforce. Our aim is therefore to provide a safe environment where all employees are treated fairly and equally and with dignity and respect. The organisation recognises that the promotion of equality and human rights is central to its work both as a provider of healthcare and as an employer. This policy has been impact assessed to ensure that it promotes equality and human rights. The assessment was undertaken using the toolkit of the NHS Centre for Equality and Human Rights and completed in September 2017.

GENERAL DATA PROTECTION REGULATIONS 2018



All documents generated under this policy that relate to identifiable individuals are to be treated as confidential documents, in accordance with the organisation's Data Protection Policy.

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT 2000

All Digital Health and Care Wales records and documents, apart from certain limited exemptions, can be subject to disclosure under the Freedom of Information Act 2000. Records and documents exempt from disclosure would, under most circumstances, include those relating to identifiable individuals arising in a personnel or staff development context. Details of the application of the Freedom of Information Act within Digital Health and Care Wales may be found in the organisation's publications scheme.

RECORDS MANAGEMENT

All documents generated under this policy are official records of the organisation and will be managed and stored and utilised in accordance with the organisation's Records Management Policy.

REVIEW

This policy will be reviewed in 3 years' time. Earlier review may be required in response to exceptional circumstances, organisational change or relevant changes in legislation or guidance.

MONITORING

Details of all capability procedure outcomes will be monitored and reported as deemed appropriate by the employing organisation.

APPROVAL

Signed:	
Name:	
Title:	
Date:	

Signed on behalf of the Management Side:

Signed on behalf of the Staff Side:



Signed:	
Name:	
Title:	
Date:	



Appendix 1 – Capability Hearings Flowchart

